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1. Name of Property
historic name Fast Brady Street Historic District
other name/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number various, see text N/A not for publication
city, town Milwaukee N/A Vicinity
state Wisconsin code WI county Milwaukee code 079 zip code 53202

3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property No. of Resources within Property

_X _private ___building(s) contributing noncontributing
___public-Local _X district 74 18 buildings
___public-State __site . ___sites
___public-Federal ___Structure - ___structures
___object . ___objects
74 18 Total
Name of related multiple property listing: No. of contributing resources

previously listed in the
N/A National Register 0




4.

State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of

1

966, as amended, I hereby certify that

this X nomination request for

determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering
properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the

procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
does not meet the National Register
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riteria. __ See continuation sheet.

____does not meet the National Register

Signature of commenting or other official
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S

tate or Federal agency and bureau

5.

National Park Service Certification

I, hereby, certify that this property is:

_X entered in the National Register.

See continuation sheet

___determined eligible for the National

Register,. See continuation sheet

___determined not eligible for the

___other, (explain:)

National Register.

removed from the National Register.
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Signature of the Keeper Date

6.

Functions or Use

H

istoric Functions
(enter categories from instructions)

Commerce / Specialty Store

Current Functions
(enter categories from instructions)

Commerce / Specialty Store

Domestic / Single Dwelling

Domestic / Single Dwelling

Religion / Religious Structure

Religion / Religious Structure

Religion / Church School

Religion / Church School

G Manet (T




7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials
(enter categories from instructions) (enter categories from instructions

foundation brick

Queen Anne walls brick
Italianate ’ wood
Gothic Revival roof asphalt
other sandstone
limestone

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

General Description

The East Brady Street Historic District, an eight-block-long commercial
strip located about one-and-one-haif miles north of the city's central
business district, contains a mixture of frame and brick commercial buildings,
free-standing houses and a large church complex. This jumbled potpourri of
building types imbues the district with the variety and character of a small-
town business district. Most of the buildings are two or three stories tall
with the exception of St. Hedwig's Roman Catholic church whose 162-foot-tall
steeple towers over the other buildings in the district. As a commercial
district, East Brady Street is somewhat unusual in Milwaukee 1in that it has
always functioned as a mixed-use area randomly incorporating both free-
standing houses and commercial structures.

Of the 92 buildings contained in the district, 25 are detached, single
family or duplex dwellings, 62 are used for commercial purposes, and four
comprise the St. Hedwig Church complex. Most of the commercial buildings in
the district contain flats or apartments above the first floor stores. The
majority of the buildings in the district were built between 1875 and 1915,
the period during which the surrounding neighborhood was settled by Polish
immigrants. Most of the commercial buildings retain their original 1ate
nineteenth and early twentieth century architectural character above the first
floor level, while some have their period storefronts intact as well. The
free-standing houses and duplexes are well-maintained, but many have been
cosmetically altered over the years. The buildings that comprise the St.
Hedwig's church complex have been little-altered since they were built during
the period from 1886 to 1926.

There are 18 non-contributing buildings in the district. Five of these
are modern buildings, less than 50 years old, that do not contribute to either
the district's architectural or historical significance. The other 13
buildings have been the victims of unsympathetic remodelings that have
completely stripped them of their historic character.

Architectural Character

East Brady Street is an architectural tapestry of styles, materials and
building types. The district's closely-spaced, detached structures create a
continuous streetscape of stylistically varied commercial buildings and
houses. The disparate building heights and roof types create a distinctively
jagged skyline along Brady Street. Some structures are built at the edge of

_X_See Continuation Pages




8. Statement -of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in rela-

tion to other properties: __ nationally ___statewide _X locally
Applicable National Register Criteria X A _ B XC D
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) X A X B C D E F G

Areas of Significance
(enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates

__Architecture 1875-1931 N/A
Commerce
Ethnic Heritage-European

Cultural Affiliation
none

Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A

Multiple, see text

State significance of property, and justify criterija, criteria considerations,
and areas and period of significance noted above.

Significance

The East Brady Street Historic District 1is being nominated to the
National Register of Historic Places because of its local significance in the
areas of architecture (criterion C), commerce and ethnic heritage (criterion
A). East Brady Street is architecturally significant as an intact example of
a late nineteenth and early twentieth century neighborhood commercial strip.
The district is historically significant as the commercial and cultural focus
of the large nineteenth century Polish community that settled the neighborhood
surrounding the district.

The Wisconsin Cultural Resource Management Plan notes that Polish ethnic
neighborhoods in Milwaukee did not become clearly defined until the Post-Civil
War period when Poleszentered the steel, leatherworking, and other materials
processing industries. The East Brady Street Historic District, which began
taking shape during the early 1870s, is significant as one of Milwaukee's
earliest major centers of Polish commerce. In the context of the city's
ethnic commercial strips, East Brady Street possesses a unique, village-like
character incorporating many early working-class <cottages, commercial
buildings, and as its focal point, a monumental Polish Roman Catholic church.
The district is an excellent example of an early Milwaukee ethnic neighborhood
commercial strip that essentially served as the main street for the
surrounding Polish immigrant community. The period of significance is from
1875 to 1931, during which time most of the buildings were constructed.

_X_ See Continuation Pages



9. Major Bibliographical Reference

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

__preliminary determination of
individual 1isting (36) CFR 67)
been requested

___previously listed in the National
Register

___previously determined eligible by
the National Register

___designated a National Historic
Landmark

___recorded by Historic American
Buildings Survey #

_X _See continuation sheets

___recorded by Historic American
Engineering Record #

Primary location of additional data:
_X State Historic preservation office
___Other State agency
___Federal agency
_X Local government
___University
___Other
Specify repository:
Historic Preservation Commission
809 North Broadway

Milwaukee, WI 53202
10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property 14 acres
UTM References
A 1/6 4/2/6/4/2/0 4/7/6/6/8/4/0 B 1/6 4/2/6/4/2/0 4/7/6/6/9/2/0
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
c 1/6 4/2/7/3/4/0 4/7/6/6/8/2/0 D 1/6 4/2/7/3/4/0 4/7/6/6/9/0/0

See continuation

sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

X See continuation

sheet

Boundary Justification

X See continuation

sheet

11. Form Prepared By

name/title

Les Vollmert/Paul Jakubovich

organization

Dept. of City Development

Date  July 24, 1989

street & number 809 North Broadway

telephone  (414) 223-5705

city or town Milwaukee

state WI zip code 53202




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 7 Page 1 Brady Street Historic District
Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI

the sidewalk, while others are set back a few feet. East Brady Street's
unusual array of architectural styles and building types and the irregular
siting of the structures sets it apart from the <city's more typical
neighborhood commercial strips which developed over a shorter period of time
with greater architectural uniformity.

Small, nineteenth century commercial buildings with a store on the first
floor and a flat above are the most common types of structures found on East
Brady Street, particularly in the east half of the district. These structures
vary a great deal in age, form and architectural styling. A well-preserved
example of the district's early commercial architecture is the two-story,
I[tatianate style, gabled, brick block bui]H at 1702 North Franklin Place
(a.k.a. 1200-04 E. Brady Street) in 1874. An unusual example of the
district's frame commercial architecture is the connected pair of two-story,
c]apboarg-sided, gabled blocks at 1301-07 East Brady Street which were built
in 1881. As East Brady Street grew in commercial importance during the late
nineteenth century, more imposing brick commercial blocks were built, such as
the eclectic style, three-story building consgructed in 1888 for Ignatz
Trzebiatowski at 1115-1117 East Brady Street. A good example of the
development that took place at the end of the district's development period in
the early twentieth century is the brick, Mediterranean-style store/flat
building located at 1016 East Brady SIreet that was constructed in 1927 to the
designs of architect George Zagel. Interspersed among these commercial
buildings are an equally varied collection of residential structures.

St. Hedwig's Roman Catholic Church complex constitutes the physical
center of the district. After the model of a small European village, the
Polish settlers built their homes and businesses around the towering Victorian
Romanesque style church at 1704 North Humboldt Avenue. The church was built
on the highest ground in the district in 1886 to replace an earlier church
building. The church and Victorian Gothic style school building which stands
next to it are the two largest buildings in the district. Clustered around
them are a large convent and rectory.

The west half of the street is predominantly residential in character
although a large number of commercial buildings are interspersed among the
houses in a random manner. Like the commercial structures, the residential
structures in the district range in size and degree of architectural
pretension from simple working-class wooden Victorian houses, like the two-
story, gabled, 1870's, Italianate-style example located at 1319 East Brady
Street, to the large, brick, qfrman Renaissance style duplex built in 1906 at
1696-98 North Marshall Street.
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The following is an inventory and brief description of each building in
the district, including street address, historic name (if known), construction
date (if known), and classification code (e.g., C, contributing; NC, non-
contributing). Dates of construction were determined from buitding permits,
newspaper articles, date stones, fire insurance records, and tax records.
Historic names were determined from newspaper articles, city directories, tax
records, published city histories, and fire insurance maps.

Description of Individual Contributing Buildings

C 1701-03 North Arlington Place

The former Joseph Polczynski Saloon is a two-and-one-half-story,
rectangular, cream brick, Italianate style building with an unusual gambrel-
like roof. The building has been moved at least twice during its long and
interesting history.

In 1872 the building became the first St. Hedwig's School when it was
moved from an unknown 19cation to the northwest corner of North Franklin Place
and East Brady Street. At that time it was a frame building painted red.
The original construction date is not known. In 1879 the parish decided to
replace the school building, which had become too small for the growing
parish. Rather than raze the building, the parish used it as a raffle prize
in order to raise money for the new school. Mr. Francis Miszewski won the
raffle and subsequently sold the building to Mr. Joseph Polczynski for fifty
dollars. Polczynski moved the school to its present location on the northwest
corner gf East Brady Street and North Arlington Place agd encased it in brick
veneer. In 1890 he built a large brick rear addition. The unusual gambrel
roof suggests that the building may have once been a barn, a very real
possibility since a barn could have been readily converted into a schoolhouse.
The building has undergone extensive alterations over the years, particularly
to the principal elevations which face East Brady Street and North Arlington
Place.

The first story of the main elevation, which faces North Arlington Place,
features a large modern cream brick enclosed entry porch. Two large Queen
Anne style brackets are still extant over the old corner entry, which has been
bricked-in. A wood and metal cornice separates the first and second stories.
The second story of the elevation originally featured five regularly-placed,
segmentally-arched windows with simple Italianate style brick hood molds, but
recent alterations have created three 1large windows with modern glazing
materials. The attic story features a simple, round-arched window centered in
the gable. The elevation facing East Brady Street is simple in character and
is composed of two parts: the original frame building that was brick veneered




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 7 Page 3 Brady Street Historic District
Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI

in 1879 and an 1890 brick-veneered addition. A wood and metal cornice over
the two storefronts wraps around from the North Arlington Place elevation.
Some of the window openings date from the 1879 remodeling and feature simple
Italianate style brick hood molds 1like those on the North Arlington Place
elevation. Others appear to be original to the 18390 addition and a few are
modern. The other elevations facing west and north are simple in character
and feature randomly-placed windows and doors.

C 1709 North Arlington Place 1922%°

This 1large, one-story, flat-roofed garage building is constructed of
rusticated concrete block, a material that was used frequently by Milwaukee
builders during the early twentieth century. The block was the "poor-man's
limestone," and it was used extensively for garages and foundations. The
garage, apparently built as a speculative venture by Brady Street real estate
agent Constanty Zawatski, features a full basement. One of the earliest known
occupants of the building, a roofing company, used the facility for office
space and the storage of trucks and materials according to an occupancy
permit.

NC 1696 North Astor Street

The former Astor Theater wasl?ui1t in 1914 according to the designs of
Milwaukee architect Hugo Miller, The flat-roofed, two-story, stuccoed
buiiding had a 950-seat capacity, and its most outstanding original feature
was a central box office on North Astor Street under an arched vestibule.
Panels to each side displayed posters. Bays of windows fenestrated the second
story. Both motion pictures and vaudeville performers played at the theater.
Architect Myers E. Becongia designed a major 1939 remodeling that streamlined
the exterior. The box office arch was removed, and the exterior was stuccoed.
The lower story was divided into streamlined horizontal bands around the two
principal elevations facing East Brady and North Astor Streets. A new
semicircular canopy was installed, which rounded the corner at Brady Street.
This canopy remains the building's principal architectural feature today. the
Astor was last used as a theater in 1952. In 1955 the interior was stripped
and remodeled for Roa's Films, which sold media equipment, filmstrips, and
motion pictures. The upper floor was converted into flats. Roa's vacated the
building in 1984, and the step-down first story was remodeled for use by the
Brady Street Pharmacy, the current occupant.

C 1699 North Astor Street 190312

This former saloon with an upper flat was built for the Schlitz Brewing
Co. at an estimated cost of $5,000. It is a two-story, flat-roofed, red
brick, rectangular, Classical Revival style building designed by Kirchoff and
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Rose, a noted Milwaukee architectural firm. John S. Schramka was the mason
contractor. The first story of the two principal elevations facing East Brady
and North Astor Streets is composed of a series of large, round-arched window
and door openings trimmed with unusual ornamental brickwork. An original
mosaic of the Schlitz Brewing Company logo is incorporated into the East Brady
Street elevation. The second story is fenestrated with regularly placed,
segmentally-arched, double-hung windows. A bracketed sheet metal box cornice
tops the two principal elevations. The other elevations facing south and west
are utilitarian in character and composed of unornamented brick walls and
randomly placed window and door openings. The exterior is 1in an excellent
state of preservation and has recently undergone a sensitive restoration 1in
conjunction with a remodeling of the interior for office space.

C 706-08 East Brady Street 1890
This large, two-and-one-half story, front gabled1§ectangu1ar duplex was
designed in 1890 by Milwaukee architect Hugh Guthrie. The main elevation,
which faces East Brady Street, features a large porch that stretches across
the entire facade with a second-story deck . Round wood porch columns that
- rest on square brick piers are trimmed with Ionic capitals. The elevation is
simply fenestrated with a projecting bay window on each story. The two main
entry doors to the flats are located on the first story, and a door to the
walkout porch deck 1is Tlocated on the second story. A large, off-center,
double-hung window in the gable area is either a replacement for an earlier
window or the surviving half of an original two-unit-wide group of windows,
The house has been sheathed with aluminum siding. The other elevations facing
north, east, and west are utilitarian in character with no significant
architectural details other than randomly-placed windows and doors.

NC 709 East Brady Street

This one-and-one-half story house, which is L-shaped in plan and gabled
on three sides, was probably built during the late 1880s. Apparently the
house was originally built with a foundation of wooden posts, like many other
houses in the neighborhood, and later was underpinned with the present modern
concrete block foundation. The original wooden clapboards have been covered
with modern composition board siding, and the fenestration has been altered.
According to building permits, dormers were added in 1938 and 1940, and a new
porch was built in 1949,

NC  712-14 East Brady Street 19711
The A. Baldoni Music Service Building is a one-story, flat roofed, modern

style small office building trimmed with a field stone veneer on the main

elevation facing East Brady Street. It is a noncontributing structure.
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C 713 East Brady Street

This house appears to be the symmetrical twin to 709 East Brady Street.
The L-shaped, one-and-one-half story, gabled house rests on an impressive-
looking original foundation of limestone blocks. No original building permit
exists, and, like its next-door neighbor, it was probably built during the
late 1880's. The original fenestration appears to be intact, although the
original wooden clapboards have been covered with asphalt siding. The house
was converted to a duplex in 1957 according to building permits.

NC 719 East Brady Street

This two-story, working-class, single family dwelling is a simply
composed, front-gabled block with a modern concrete block foundation. The
original wooden clapboards have been covered with asphalt siding which was
added 1in 1954, according to building permits. The fenestration on the front
elevation also appears to have been altered.

C 723 East Brady Street

The Jlow-pitched roof and simple, two-story, front-gabled block form
appears to indicate a construction date in the late 1870s. The rusticated
concrete block foundations are apparently an early twentieth century addition.
The fenestration appears to be original although the encliosed front porch is a
modern addition as is the steel siding that covers the original clapboards.

NC 728 East Brady Street 19561°

This rectangular, one-story, flat-roofed, seafood restaurant building is
trimmed on the exterior with nautical motifs such as portals, pseudo mooring
pilings, and a large mast with guy lines centered on the roof. It is a
noncontributing structure,.

NC 800 East Brady Street

This house is one of a number of simple, two-story, front-gabled
dwellings located in the district. The house is well-maintained, but has been
altered over the years. The original clapboards have been covered with
aluminum siding, and several of the randomly-placed windows and doors appear
to be replacements for the original ones. The small, flat-roofed, enclosed
front porch is not original to the house. Evidence points to a construction
date prior to 1888.

NC 804 East Brady Street

This house, an L-plan, two-and-one-half-story, gabled block, is well
maintained but has been cosmetically altered from its original appearance.
Aluminum siding covers the original wooden clapboards, the fascias and the
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eaves. Modern, decorative shutters have been added to the randomly-placed
windows on the main elevation facing East Brady Street. The other elevations
facing north, east and west are simple in character featuring randomly-placed
windows and doors. Research has not discovered the date of construction, but
the overall massing of the building suggests a mid-1880s construction date.

C 807-11 East Brady Street 1925

Built at a cost of $8,000 in 1925, this one-story, rectangular, tapestry
brick, f1at72?ofed, Mediterranean-style building originally contained three
storefronts. The Badger Realty Company was the original owner according to
building permits. The most prominent features of the main elevation facing
East Brady Street are three shaped parapets capped with limestone copings.
The other three elevations, faced with common brick, are wutilitarian in
character and are not architecturally articulated. The building has been
converted to office use, and the original large plate glass display windows
have been replaced with three smaller windows framed with hardboard infill.
The two entry doori7 set into an original deep recess, are modern replacements
for the originals.

C 808 East Brady Street

This two-story, front-gabled house with 9geen Anne detailing was moved to
this lot from North Marshall Street in 1902. Research has not revealed the
original construction date. The one-story addition and the enclosed front
porch were probably added after the house was moved to this site.

The house has a well-preserved nineteenth century character, but its
apparent mixing of architectural styles indicate that it may have undergone
some exterior remodeling, probably at the time it was moved. The shallow roof
pitch is characteristic of Italianate style houses built during the 1860s and
1870s, however, on the main elevation facing East Brady Street, the dentil
blocks above the three second-story double-hung windows and the fish-scale
shingling in the gable area are Queen Anne style features typical of the turn-
of-the-century. The remaining elevations facing north, east and west are
simply finished and feature windows and doors of various sizes randomly-placed
to respond to interior needs. The house retains its original narrow wooden
clapboard siding.

C 812-14 East Brady Street 1910

One of the last houses built in the district was this 1910, two-and-one-
half—stoq9 front-gabled, rectangular duplex which rests on a raised brick
basement. The main elevation facing East Brady Street features a large
front porch with a second-story walkout deck that stretches across the entire
facade. A projecting two-story bay fenestrated with three windows on each




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States -Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 7 Page 7 Brady Street Historic District
Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI

story is centered on the facade behind the porch. The gabled attic story is
cantilevered over the lower two stories of the main elevation, covering the
top of the projecting bay. Two double-hung windows are centered in the gable.
The remaining elevations are simple in character featuring randomiy-placed
windows and doors. The house has been covered with modern aluminum siding and
trim.

C 815-21 East Brady Street 1927

This three-story, rectangular, Mediterranean style, flat-roofed,
retail/apartment building originally cost $20,000 when it was built in 1927
and contained three street-level stores and four apartments on the top two
floorszo Milwaukee architect Alfred Siewert designed the building for Tom
Mason. The building, which was one of the last contributing structures to
be built in the district, is trimmed with ornamental brickwork, cast stone,
and a Spanish tile cornice. The main elevation facing East Brady Street is
divided vertically on the top two floors by a central group of sash windows
three bays wide that are enclosed by a flush, round-arched ribbon of cast
stone. Flanking the central bay are groups of sash windows that vary from one
to four units in width. The top sash of each window is subdivided into six
lights with leading, while the bottom sash is a single pane of clear glass.
The sienna-colored tapestry face brick is laid in common bond except for the
ornamental basketweave pattern in the spandrels between the second and third
floor windows. The facade is topped with a Spanish-tiled parapet. The
cornice has scrolled ornamental wrought iron work, The three storefronts,
which are separated from the upper floors by a continuous cast stone belt
course, have been substantially altered. The original street level plateglass
display windows have been replaced with brick-arched blind arcading. Near the
center of the facade, the original round-arched street Tevel entrance to the
walk-up apartments remains intact. The three other elevations facing east,
west and south are utilitarian in character and contain windows and doors
placed to respond to floor plan requirements.

C 816 East Brady Street

This one-story, front-gabled block with false front was originally a
cottage that was converted to a store in 1903. Except for the street-level
storefront, which has been completely remodeled, the building appears to be in
its 1903 condition. The simple, flat cornice that tops the clapboard sided
false front facing East Brady Street appears to date from the 1903 alteration.
The original storefront has been replaced with modern construction composed of
vertical wood siding, concrete block infill, plate glass windows and a flush
entry door. The shingled overhang above the storefront also appears to be a
modern addition. The remaining clapboard-sided elevations facing north, east
and west are simply composed of randomly-ptaced windows and doors trimmed with
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rectangular wood moldings. The rear half of the building, which has lower
side walls than the front half, appears to be an early addition. The original
date of construction 1is not known, but the building appeared on the 1888
Milwaukee Insurance Atlas as a one-story dwelling, so the original dwelling
was built before that date.

C 818-20 East Brady Street 1909

This two-and-one-half-story, front-gabled, aluminum sided, rectangular
duplex built in 1909 is nearly identical to its neighbor located two doors
south %E 812-814 East Brady Street, which has already been described in
detail. This duplex, built one year earlier, differs only in that its porch
has three rectangular, tapered, wood porch columns that stand on red brick
piers.

C 822-24 East Brady Street

This duplex is very similar to 812-814 and 818-820 East Brady Street.
Like the others, it has been aluminum sided. It differs on the exterior only
in that it features a six-l1ight fixed sash on the east half of the second
floor. The original wooden porch columns have been replaced with modern
wrought iron uprights.

C 826 East Brady Street

This simple, one-story, rectangular, <clapboard-sided, front-gabled
structure is typical of the many small working-class cottages located near
Brady Street. Usually built as owner-occupied units for the area's early
immigrants, the small dwellings were updated and remodeled over the years as
the owners' incomes and family sizes increased. This cottage was probably
built on a wooden post foundation and later underpinned in the early twentieth
century with tapestry brick foundations. On the main elevation facing East
Brady Street, the triple window is an early twentieth century replacement for
the original windows. The small 1lunette window centered in the gable is
probably an original feature. Recently the front porch hood was removed. The
main entry door has been replaced with a modern flush door, The other
clapboard sided elevations facing north, east and west are composed of
randomliy-placed windows and doors trimmed with simple rectangular wooden
moldings.

Although research has not revealed the original construction date, the
cottage appeared on the 1888 Milwaukee Insurance Map and was probably built in
the 1870s.
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C 827-29 East Brady Street 1916, 1931

From East Brady Street, the two-and-one-half-story, <cross-gabled,
stuccoed, Craftsman-style house built for P. J. Toran in 1916 is still
partially visible behind the ©brick, L-shaped, commercﬂg] vernacular,
retail/flat building built in 1931 for grocer Cono Sigagro. The original
house has been converted to a three-unit apartment building. The main, two-
story block of the brick addition, which is built to the sidewalk, is attached
to the east elevation of the house. It is composed of a simple street-level
storefront, a group of three sash windows on the second floor, and a scalloped
parapet wall capped with a limestone coping. The storefront has been slightly
altered with modern windows and metal infill panels.

A small, 8' x 25' one-story brick addition is built to the sidewalk and
now obscures the first floor of the original 1916 house. What remains to be
seen of the house are two groups of second-story sash windows, each two units
wide, and the 1large front gable with a segmentally-arched group of sash
windows, three units in width. The other three elevations facing east, west
and south are utilitarian in character and contain no distinguishing features
other than randomly placed doors and windows placed to respond to interior

-floor plan requirements.

C 830 East Brady Street

This one-and-one-half-story, rectangular, front-gabled structure is
representative of the many working class cottages in the district that have
been altered over the years. The first story of the main elevation facing
East Brady Street features three grouped windows, the front door, and a small,
hip roofed front porch. The upper-half story features a pair of double-hung
windows centered in the gable. The entire house has been covered with
aluminum siding and trim. The other elevations facing north, east and west
are simple in character and consist of randomly-placed windows and doors.
This house probably dates from the early 1880s.

C 900 East Brady Street

Located on the northeast corner of East Brady and North Marshall Streets,
this small, two-story, front gabled block has a one-story, gabled rear
addition. Like many cottages in the vicinity of the district, the rajsed
brick basement was probably added for additional 1living space several years
after the house was built. This type of house is known locally as a Polish
flat" because immigrant Poles popularized the building type. This 1is the
district's only example of a Polish flat although many other examples are
scattered throughout the neighborhood to the north of East Brady Street.
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The house is simply fenestrated with randomly-placed double-hung windows
that respond to interior needs. The house retains its original four-panel
front entry door. The original narrow clapboards have been covered with
asphalt brick siding. The original construction date is not known, but the
shallow roof pitch is indicative of the district's early years of development
during the 1860s and 1870s. The house and its small rear addition appeared on
the 1888 Milwaukee Insurance Map indicating it had been constructed prior to
1888.

C 911-15 East Brady Street

Although this simple, two-story, rectangular, side-gabled building is
decidedly commercial in character today, the 1888 fire insurance map indicates
that the structure was originally used as a dwelling. By 1894 when the next
fire insurance map was published it was being used as a store, and that same
year the two-story apartment addition was built on the west end. The most
prominent historic feature of the main elevation facing East Brady Street is a
projecting, second-story, oriel window.

The building has wundergone significant cosmetic alterations. The
original clapboard siding has been covered with asphalt siding and the two
storefronts have been significantly altered with the 1large, plate glass
display windows now replaced with small windows and aluminum siding infill,
The remaining elevations facing east, west and south are simple in character
and have nao outstanding features other than randomly placed windows and doors.

NC 914 East Brady Street

A bold rusticated limestone foundation is the most outstanding original
feature of this two-and-one-half-story, L-plan, combination gable and hip
roofed house which faces East Brady Street behind a small, bermed lawn. The
overall massing of the house is typical of Queen Anne style houses built
during the 1880s. No original building permit has been found. The
fenestration on the main elevation has been altered. The original clapboard
siding is covered with aluminum siding. Most of the original detailing has
either been removed or covered with aluminum siding, although a turned, Queen
Anne style front porch post still survives in good condition. The other
elevations facing north, east and west are simple in character and feature
randomly-placed windows and doors that respond to interior needs.

C 916-18 East Brady Street

This large, two-and-one-half-story, side-gabled, Queen Anne style,
store/flat building is relatively intact on the exterior with the exception of
a remodeled street-level storefront and the addition of asphalt siding. On
the main elevation facing East Brady Street, the remodeled storefront features
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a central recessed entrance flanked by large plate glass windows. A door that
leads to the stairs to the second floor flat is located on the west end of the
main elevation. The second story features two pairs of double-hung windows.
A large, central, pedimented dormer is trimmed with jig-sawn brackets beneath
two carved floral motif wooden capitals. The remaining elevations facing
north, east and west are simple in character and feature randomly-placed
windows and doors that respond to interior needs. Research has not revealed
the exact construction date, but the building appeared on the 1888 Milwaukee
Insurance Map. The Queen Anne style detailing suggests a mid-1880s
construction date.

C 919 East Brady Street

This house 1is a simply composed, rectangular, two-and-one-half-story,
front-gabled block that rests on a bold, rusticated limestone foundation
behind a small lawn. The building is sheathed in aluminum siding that
approximates the appearance of the original, narrow, wooden clapboards.
Although no original building permits exists, the peaked window heads and
porch hood on the main elevation, appear to indicate a construction date in
the late 1870s or early 1880s.

The first story of the main elevation consists of two windows and a door
sheltered by a small hood which covers the stoop. The second floor contains
three evenly spaced sash windows. A small, peaked window is centered in the
gable. The other elevations are very simple in character and consist of
randomly-placed windows and a door. A modern, flat-roofed, concrete block
garage has been attached to the basement level of the east elevation,

C 928-32 East Brady Street

This large store-and-flat building on the northwest corner of East Brady
and North Astor Streets originaliy contained two stores. The two-and-one-
half-story, gabled block is simple in character and contains no outstanding
features other than a large, projecting, gabled oriel on the second story of
the East Brady Street elevation. The main gable faces North Astor Street.
The 1888 Milwaukee Insurance Map listed the store at 928 East Brady Street as
a bakery. No original building permit has been found. The original street
level storefronts facing East Brady Street and North Astor Street have been
completely obscured with modern brick veneer and new sash windows. The second
story which apparently retains its original double-hung sash windows has been
covered with modern vertical wood siding. The gable areas are sheathed with
wide, horizontal siding. The first story is still used for retail purposes,
and the second story is apparently an apartment.
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C 1006 East Brady Street 1890

Otto Strack, a prominent Milwaukee architect, designed the former Pabst
Brewing Company saloon in 1890 thatzis located on the northedast corner of
North Astor and East Brady Streets. The two-story, brick, rectangular,
flat-roofed saloon rests on a 1limestone foundation and is trimmed with
ornamental brick, sheet metal work and rusticated limestone.

The most prominent feature of the two principal elevations facing North
Astor and East Brady Streets is a projecting, second-story, semi-octagonal

oriel facing the street corner. The first story of the two principal
elevations features a series of round-arched window and door openings trimmed
with bold, rusticated 1limestone voissors,. The principal elevations are

divided horizontally by a dressed stone belt course located between the two
stories. The second-story windows are trimmed with rusticated lintels with
the exception of the three narrow double-hung windows in the corner bay. A
small, shingled, mansard-like overhang tops the two principal elevations. A
large corbelled brick chimney is centered on the East Brady Street elevation.
A simple, brick, two-story, rear addition is largely utilitarian in character
and rests on a rusticated 1limestone plinth 1like the original building.
According to building permits, the basement of the building originally
contained a bowling alley.

The exterior 1is very well-preserved but some easily reversed cosmetic
alterations have been made. The pressed brick and limestone facade has been
painted a dark gray color and the street level, round-arched windows have been
filled in with vertical wood siding. The building is still used as a saloon
with a rented flat on the second story.

NC 1014 East Brady Street 1961°°

One of the modern infill structures in the district is this one-story,
flat-roofed, brick restaurant building designed by D. Forbes. The main
elevation, which faces East Brady Street, is trimmed with mosaic tile and
ornamental cast block. The principal feature of the main elevation is a
series of four segmentally-arched openings that contain three plate glass
windows and the main entry door. The building, which is a noncontributing
structure, is still used as a restaurant.

C 1016-22 East Brady Street 1927
Milwaukee architect George Zagel designed this ﬁyo-story, brick, flat-
roofed, Mediterranean style store/apartment building. The building is one

of several substantial commercial structures built during the district's final
period of development during the 1920s and the early 1930s. The two street-
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level storefronts which probably originally featured large, plate glass
display windows, have been altered with modern entry doors, new wood trim and
the addition of a rusticated metal shingle overhang. The second story of the
main elevation appears to be in original condition. The symmetrical facade is
divided into three parts. A simple, central bay, which features two pairs of
double-hung windows, 1is flanked by two 1large symmetrical end bays, each
featuring three round-arched window openings and shaped parapets capped with
molded cast stone copings. A decorative Spanish tile pent roof tops the
facade. The other elevations facing north and east are utilitarian in
character and feature randomly-placed windows and doors. The east elevation
abuts the neighboring building. Since the 1940s, Glorioso's Food Store has
occupied the first floor,

C 1017-19 East Brady Street

In 1940 Milwaukee architect George Zagel designed the brick, one-story,
flat-roofed store additio§7that is attached to the basement of the simple,
Victorian house behind it. The L-plan, two-story, gabled, Queen Anne style
house which was built atop a small lawn, was one of the last private houses in
the district to be altered for commercial purposes. The house retains its
original narrow wooden clapboards and simple gable moldings. It is still used
as the residence of the storekeeper, who currently operates Brady Shoe Repair.
The store addition was originally built for Sajdak's Shoe Store, and the
property is still owned by the Sajdak family.

C 1021-23 East Brady Street

The house that stands in back of the storefront addition atop a small
earthen berm is the district's only example of Stick Style architecture. The
complex is also one of the district's most intact examples of a basement
storefront added to an earlier residence. The dates of construction are not
known. Very 1ittle of the original, L-plan, two-story, gabled house was
hidden when the small, one-story, brick, fiat-roofed store was added to the
front of it. The clapboard-sided house is a well-preserved example of Stick
Style architecture which is characterized by the use of applied stickwork that
creates symmetrical divisions in the siding material.

The first story of the main block facing East Brady Street features two
sash windows trimmed with decorative impost blocks. An entry is located
beneath a second floor walkout porch on the side of the house. The second
floor of the main block features applied stickwork that forms a large, Gothic-
1ike pointed arch and encloses a group of three sash windows. Beneath these
windows is a panel of fish-scale pattern wood shingles. The second story of
the ell1 facing the street features a door to the walkout porch. The gable of
the main block is trimmed with two triangular areas of vertical siding and an
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unusual triangular attic window at the peak of the gable. The other
elevations are simple in character with modest Stick Style divisioning,
clapboard siding, and windows and doors ptaced to respond to the needs of the
interior.

Since at Jleast 1921 the storefront addition has been used as an
office/display room for plumbing contractors, fiﬂ@t for Joseph A. Foran and
later for Wichman Plumbing, the current occupant.

C  1024-28 East Brady Street 1910%°
This two-and-one-half-story, tan pressed brick, gabled retail store and
apartment building is a highly detailed, late example of German Renaissance

Revival style architecture. The building has been incorporated into the
adjoining Glorioso's Food Store and the street-level storefront has been
remodeled to match the neighboring modern storefront. The storefront

presently consists of vertical wood siding, an entry door, three small divided
light sash windows and a modern overhang covered with rusticated metal
shingles.

A simple, continuous limestone sill course separates the first story from
the second. The second story features two large double-hung windows trimmed
with classical, bracketed hood moldings. The small top sash in each of the
two windows features. clear, geometric pattern 1leaded glass windows that
exhibit Prairie School stylistic influences. Brick quoins ornament the ends
of the main elevation. The attic half story features a prominent fenestral
grouping three windows wide, that is trimmed with fluted, Ionic columns and a
classical, pedimented window hood. An elaborate, German Renaissance Revival
style, shaped parapet features a bold coping of ornamental sheet metal.

The remaining elevations facing north and east are simple in character
and consist of randomly-placed windows and doors that respond to interior
needs. The west elevation is completely obscured by the adjoining buiiding.

C 1027-29 East Brady Street

This simple, two-story, frame, combination gable/hip roofed commercial
building dates from the early- to mid-1880s. Typical of many 19th century
commercial buildings, it contains a street-level storefront with a
shopkeeper's flat on the second floor. The building was used as a grocery
store in the early 1920s, and the shopkeeper at that time, William C. Beck,
1ived upstairs. By 1941 Charles E. Eastg&od operated the grocery store and
made his home in the flat above the store. Currently the storefront is used
by Fazio's Dry Cleaning.
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The first story of the main elevation facing East Brady Street features a
plate glass storefront (which is not original) and an entry door to the second
floor flat. The second story features three replacement double-hung windows.
The gabled corner of the facade contains one centered, double-hung window.
The remaining three elevations facing east, west and south are very simply
fenestrated to respond to interior needs. The building is sheathed with
aluminum siding that approximates the size and appearance of the original
narrow clapboards.

NC 1030 East Brady Street

Thi§1simply composed, two-story, gabled building was moved to this site
in 1890. The owner at that time was Hen§§ W. Zimmermann, a horseshoer, who
lived next door at 1026 East Brady Street. House moving was very common in
Milwaukee during the late nineteenth century, and many houses were moved into
this neighborhood from older areas to house the burgeoning immigrant
population. The house is set back about fifty feet from East Brady Street
behind a fenced grass lawn where the frame store building once stood that
housed Henry Zimmermann's business.

The house is simply fenestrated with windows and doors of various sizes
randomly-placed to meet interior needs. The first-story casement window
facing East Brady Street is a modern replacement for the original double-hung
windows. Asphalt siding covers the original narrow clapboards.

C 1115-17 East Brady Street

An excellent example of the district's fine, 7Jate 1880s vintage
commercial architecture 1is this three-story, flat-roofed, brick block of
eclectic design. The only architecturally articulated elevation faces East
Brady Street and features extensive ornamental brickwork and sheet metal work.
The street level storefront appears to be nearly original with the exception
of a modern, wood shingled overhang above the plate glass display windows. To
the side of the storefront is a door with a glass transom that leads to a
flight of steps to the upper flat.

The upper floor levels are expressed on the facade by brick corbelling
beneath the 1imestone sill courses. The second floor features two bays of
segmentally-arched fenestration including one double-hung window and a large
combination window consisting of a plate glass fixed sash with a stained glass
transom flanked by two narrow, double-hung windows with stained glass
transoms. Two of the third floor windows on the west half of the facade are
enframed with extensive ornamental brickwork including corbelling, segmental
arches, pilasters and limestone voissoirs. The facade is finished with a
bracketed sheet metal cornice that continues over the small, brick, false
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front gable above the brick-ornamented third floor windows. The other three
elevations facing east, west and south are wutilitarian in character and
feature windows, doors and a metal fire escape placed to respond to interior
needs.

C  1200-04 East Brady Street 1875°%°
The Charles Sikorski saloon/grocery store is believed to be the oldest
brick building in the district. The two-and-one-half-story, rectangular,

cream brick, Italianate style, gabled store building is well-preserved and
retains most of its historic character, making it one of the pivotal
structures in the district. The first story contains three small storefronts
and the second story is the shopkeeper's flat.

The principal elevation facing North Franklin Place features two simple,
street-level, plate glass storefronts, a prominent corner entrance to the
corner unit, and a central entrance door that opens to the staircase to the
second floor flat. A simple cornice located above the storefronts divides the
facade horizontally. The second story is fenestrated with five, round-arched
windows trimmed with Italianate style brick hood molds. A small, round-arched
window centered in the gable is topped with a jig-sawn wooden ornament.

The other principal elevation of the building faces East Brady Street and
is simply composed of two parts: the original side elevation of the brick
block and a small, early, brick, two-story, side-gabled, rear addition. The
first story of this elevation is composed of a display window for the corner
store and a separate simple storefront, half of which is located in the rear
addition. The second-story fenestration is composed of three, six-over-six
double-hung windows. The other two elevations facing north and east are
simply finished and do not feature any significant architectural articulation
other than randomly-placed windows and doors. The building is still used for
retail sales on the first floor and living quarters on the second floor.

C  1201-05 East Brady Street 1931%*

One of the district's few Mission Revival style buildings was constructed
for the former Peoples Building and Loan Association on the southeast corner
of East Brady Street and North Franklin Place. It is a brick, two-and-one-
half-story, side-gabled, rectangular building with two large dormers that
project from a steeply pitched, asphalt shingle roof. Originally the Building
and Loan was Jlocated in the western half of the first floor and the Great
Atlansgc and Pacific Tea Co., a grocery store, was located in the other
half. Building and Loan institutions were the predecessors of today's
Savings and Loan institutions. The second floor has apparently always been
used as an apartment.
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Although the street level storefronts have been substantially remodeled
to accommodate a restaurant, the main elevation facing East Brady Street
appears to be in original condition above the first floor. The most
outstanding original features of the main elevation are two large dormers.
The targest, located at the street corner, features Mission Revival style
shaped parapets. The other parapet at the opposite end of the elevation is
smailer and simpler. Two windows are centered in the large dormer and one
window is centered in the smaller gable.

The remodeled, street 1level storefront consists of large plate glass
windows and random-cut limestone veneer. The second story contains five bays

of fenestration, each two or three windows in width. A projecting,
rectangular, stuccoed oriel with three double-hung windows is located on the
second floor beneath the smaller gabled dormer. The remaining elevations

facing east, west and south contain randomly-placed windows and doors that
conform to interior needs.

C  1209-13 East Brady Street 1923%°

Boleslaw Jazdsewski, a Brady Street real estate broker, built this two-
story, brick, rectangular, flat-roofed, commercial style building. Originally
built as a single large storefront on the first floor with second floor flats,
the first floor was divided into two g}orefronts in 1928. Liberty Furniture
was the original first floor tenant. The building is well-preserved and
appears to be in nearly original condition.

‘The only architecturally articulated elevation faces East Brady Street.
The two symmetrical street-level storefronts retain their large, plate glass
display windows. A recessed entry containing the two entrances to the stores
and a door to the upper flats is centered on the facade. A continuous, opaque
glass transom above the show windows stretches across the entire facade.

The elevation is divided at the second floor level by a continuous
projecting rolled sheet metal cornice. The major features of the second floor
are two symmetrical, projecting wooden oriels, each fenestrated with four
double-hung windows. Centered between the two oriels are two groups of paired
double-hung windows. The facade is finished with a rolled sheet metal cornice
located about three feet below a parapet wall which is capped with a simple
limestone coping. The other three elevations facing south, east and west are
simple in character and consist of randomly-placed windows and doors that
conform to interior needs.
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C 1208-12 East Brady Street

Schlitz Hall is probably the best preserved nineteenth century frame
commercial building in the district. The two-and-one-half-story, cross-
gabled, clapboard-sided, Queen Anne style store building with second floor
flats is trimmed with carved wooden brackets and wood shingles. No original
building permit has been found, but the building was built between 1888 and
1894, Schlitz Hall originally contained a 1large second floor meeting
facility. It is not known when the hall was converted to the apartments which
are there today.

The main elevation which faces East Brady Street features two, well-
preserved street-level storefronts that flank a central recessed entry door
that opens to the stairs to the second floor, Each storefront 1is simply
composed of a plate glass display window and an original glass and wood
paneled entry door. The present display windows are probably twentieth
century replacements for earlier divided 1ight sash windows. The second story
features two adjacent, projecting, central oriels fenestrated with three
double-hung windows. The pair of oriels is flanked by a simple, double-hung
window on each side. The attic half-story is cantilevered over the facade to
cover the tops of the projecting oriels. The cantilever is trimmed with three
carved, sunburst design, wooden brackets. The gable area is sheathed with
square-butt wood shingles. Centered in the gable 1is a pair of deeply
recessed, double-hung windows that retain their original Queen Anne style
multi-pane top sash. The remaining elevations facing east, west and north are
simply finished and feature windows and doors of various sizes randomly-placed
to respond to interior needs.

C 1214-16 East Brady Street

This two-and-one-half-story, gabled, cream brick, Queen Anne style
commercial block is a fine example of the district's early brick commercial
buildings. Research has not revealed the original date of construction, but
the building probably dates from the early 1880s. .

The main elevation, which faces East Brady Street, features a storefront
which retains its original rectangular cast iron piers. The original street-
level storefront windows have been replaced with smaller modern plate glass
windows and wood infill. The first story is separated from the second by a
continuous 1imestone si11 course which rests on a bracketed, wood<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>